

Nicholas Koenig Canty and Wei-chen Chang\*

Department of Chemistry, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, 27607, U.S.A. Email: <u>wchanq6@ncsu.edu</u>

Dedicated to Professor Tien-Yau Luh of National Taiwan University.

Received 04-21-2023

Accepted 08-28-2023

Published on line 09-13-2023

#### Abstract

Lignans constitute a large and diverse class of molecules widely distributed throughout the plant kingdom. They exhibit a wide range of pharmaceutically relevant biological activities and have attracted widespread research interests. This review covers the current understanding of lignan biosynthesis and aims to highlight key biosynthetic transformations responsible for their structural and biological diversity.



Keywords: Lignin, biosynthesis, podophyllotoxin, enzyme transformation

# **Table of Contents**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Formation of Coniferyl Alcohol
- 3. Scaffold Generation Overview
- 4. Monolignol Dimerization
- 5. Reduction of Pinoresinol/Lariciresinol
- 6. Dehydrogenation of Secoisolariciresinol
- 7. Formation of Podophyllotoxin Core
- 8. Scaffold Tailoring in Podophyllotoxin and Derivatives
- 9. Scaffold Tailoring in Sesamin Biosynthesis
- 10. Glycosylation
- 11. Outlook for other Lignan Scaffolds
  - 11.1. Arylnaphthalene Lignans
  - 11.2. Dibenzylcyclooctadiene Lignans

# **1. Introduction**

Lignans constitute a large and diverse class of natural products widely distributed in the plant kingdom and are found in plant roots, rhizomes, stems, leaves, seeds and fruits.<sup>1</sup> They are derived from the stereoselective oxidative coupling of two phenylpropanoid monomers, also termed monolignols, at the olefin of the propenyl moiety. The resulting  $\beta$ - $\beta'$  (C8-C8') bond defines the substance class. Another defining characteristic of lignans is that oxygen represents the only heteroatom incorporated into the scaffold. Despite this rather narrow definition and common origin, lignans exhibit a vast structural diversity. A highly divergent biosynthesis leads to different patterns in cyclization, dividing lignans into structural subtypes: furofurans, furans, dibenzylbutanes, dibenzylcyclooctadienes, aryltetralins and arylnaphthalenes.<sup>2</sup> An overview of the structural features, nomenclature and classification is provided in Figure 1.

Lignans exhibit a broad range of biological activities including antioxidant, antimicrobial, antiviral and antineoplastic properties.<sup>3–6</sup> While their specific functions *in planta* are largely unknown, lignans are thought to be involved in processes related to plant physiology and development. Furthermore, lignans are implicated to serve important functions in plant defense and survival against ecological stressors, as evidenced by their bioactive properties and distribution across numerous plant tissues. Many lignan-rich plants have been known for their therapeutic properties and potential health benefits to humans and have a long history of use in traditional medicine and diet.<sup>7</sup> Prominent examples include flax (*Linum usitatissimum*), sesame (*Sesamum indicum*), forsythia (*Forsythia suspensa*), olive (*Olea europaea*) and schisandra (*Schisandra chinensis*).

One of the most well-known lignans is podophyllotoxin from mayapple species (*Podophyllum peltatum, Sinopodophyllum hexandrum*). Podophyllotoxin is a potent anti-cancer and anti-viral agent that prevents cell division by destabilizing microtubules. It is a FDA-approved drug used for the treatment of external warts cause by human papillomavirus (HPV) since 1990, while it has been used since 1942.<sup>8</sup> Medicinal use of *Podophyllum* was reported as early as 900 AD in The Leech Book of Bald, an English pharmaceutical reference book.<sup>9</sup> Since the 1970s, dozens of podophyllotoxin derived drugs have entered clinical trials. Deoxypodophyllotoxin, a biosynthetic precursor to podophyllotoxin, was approved for phase I trials by the National Medical Products Administration in China in 2017.<sup>10</sup> Its semi-synthetic glycosylated congeners etoposide and teniposide were

Canty, N. K. et al.

approved for medical use in the United States in 1983 and 1992 respectively. Both of them are used for the treatment of several cancer types, including lung cancer, lymphoma, leukemia, neuroblastoma and testicular cancer. Etoposide is included in the World Health Organization's List of Essential Medicines.<sup>11-13</sup> Nordihydroguaiaretic acid (NDGA) has emerged as another promising lignan lead compound. It was isolated from the creosote bush (Larrea tridentata), which has been used in traditional medicine in northern Mexico and the southwestern United States for the treatment of more than 50 diseases.<sup>14</sup> It was shown to exhibit potent antioxidant, antiviral and antineoplastic activities. NDGA was used as a food antioxidant in the United States until the 1970s. Since then, it has been approved for treatment of actinic keratosis and its methylated derivative tetra-O-methyl NDGA has entered clinical trials for the treatment of HPV-linked cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Both compounds have been identified to inhibit replication of dengue virus, hepatitis C virus, West Nile Virus and Zika Virus in vitro.<sup>15,16</sup> More than 150 dibenzylcyclooctadiene lignans, also termed Schisandra chinensis lignans, have been characterized to date and were all isolated from species in the Schisandraceae family.<sup>17</sup> Dibenzylcyclooctadienes make up the largest lignan subclass, however little is known about their biosynthesis. Schisandra chinensis has a long history of use in traditional Chinese medicine for the treatment of hepatitis and myocardial disorders among others. Notably, schizandrin A and B have been investigated for their antiviral activity against HIV, and schizandrin C was shown to possess potent hepatoprotectant properties.<sup>18,19</sup> Schizandrin C derivative was approved for the treatment of hepatotoxin-induced liver injury by the Chinese Food and Drug Administration in 2004.<sup>20</sup> Sesamin has been shown to exhibit potent hyaluronidase inhibition activity. thus attracting interest from the cosmetic industry.<sup>21</sup> It is the major lignan found in sesame seeds, a historical staple food in Africa and Asia and it has been popularized worldwide. Investigations about its health benefits have demonstrated anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties.<sup>22,23</sup> Structures of several representative lignan natural products are shown in Figure 2. A comprehensive summary of bioactivities of lignan natural products can be found in recent reviews by Osmakov et al.<sup>24</sup> and Plaha et al.<sup>25</sup>





Unsurprisingly, the sheer number (more than 750 lignans have been discovered since 2016) and diversity, along with substantial therapeutic potential have made lignan natural products a rich source of lead compounds for drug development.<sup>26</sup> However, natural occurrence in the producing organisms is often very low. For example, podophyllotoxin accounts for 0.3-1.0% (w/w) of rhizome mass, while sesamin constitutes 0.4-0.6% (w/w) of sesame oil, making extraction laborious and uneconomical.<sup>27,28</sup> An estimated 300,000 lbs. of mayapple roots are harvested per year to cover the demand of podophyllotoxin and epipodophyllotoxin, the precursor to etoposide and teniposide.<sup>29</sup> As mayapple species are not suitable to farm, wild *S. hexandrum* has become an endangered species.<sup>30,31</sup> While semi-synthetic and biotechnological approaches such as microbial cell factory, endophytic fungi and plant chassis have become promising alternatives, their economic viability is still limited.<sup>32–37</sup>

An ever-growing need for effective disease treatment and a recent advent of renewed interest in natural medicines and cosmetics have led to an increased global demand for lignan lead compounds. The lignan market is estimated to reach over 610 million USD by 2028.<sup>38</sup> It is therefore imperative to gain insight into the biosynthesis of lignan to aid in the identification of genes and elucidation of the corresponding enzyme mechanisms, providing a foundation for developing sustainable and economical methods of production. Nature effortlessly and efficiently accomplishes enormous structural diversity using a comparatively limited set of

enzymatic transformations. In this review, we provide an outline of a concerted pathway that is deployed to generate the scaffolds of lignans, which become branchpoints for the production of diverse natural products.



Figure 2. Representative examples of lignan natural prodcuts.

# 2. Formation of Coniferyl Alcohol

Before diving into the intricacies of lignan biosynthesis, it is important to discuss the biogenesis of their common precursor, coniferyl alcohol (CA) (Figure 3). In phenylpropanoid metabolism, as is the case for many other secondary metabolite pathways, amino acids, diverted from protein synthesis act as an entry point from which the natural product scaffold is built upon. For lignans, as well as flavanones, stilbenes, chalcones and other natural product families originating from the phenylpropanoid pathway, phenylalanine and tyrosine represent this entry point.<sup>39,40</sup> Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) catalyzes elimination of ammonia to generate the cinnamic acid which is subsequently hydroxylated in the C4-position by cytochrome P450 monooxygenase cinnamate 4-hydroxylase (C4H).<sup>41</sup> *p*-OH-Coumaric acid is the skeleton for lignan natural products. Analogously, deamination of tyrosine is facilitated by tyrosine ammonia-lyase (TAL).<sup>41,42</sup> Cinnamic acid and *p*-OH-coumaric acid not only act as building blocks in lignans, but also serve as precursors to the structural polymer lignin, the second most abundant biopolymer on earth after cellulose.<sup>43,44</sup> PAL/TAL utilizes 5-methylidene-imidazolone (MIO) as the cofactor that is formed from three adjacent glycine, serine and alanine. Briefly, attack of the substrate's amino group onto the MIO cofactor generates a reactive intermediate, in which deprotonation followed by cleavage of the amine produces the C=C bond.<sup>42</sup>

From p-OH-coumaric acid, a common strategy is employed to generate CA, as well as the other two monolignols. This strategy involves an ATP-dependent 4-coumarate-CoA-ligase (4CL) to activate the C1carboxylate of the *p*-OH-coumaric acid via CoA ligation.<sup>45,46</sup> With *p*-OH-coumaric acid also acting as an entry point for flavonoid biosynthesis, 4CL is indicated to channel the flux of p-OH-coumaric acid towards the respective pathways. In Arabidopsis thaliana, 4 isoforms of 4CL were identified, 2 of which were implicated in phenylpropanoid biosynthesis, 1 in flavonoid biosynthesis and 1 in piperine biosynthesis.<sup>50-54</sup> p-OH-Coumaroyl shikimate/quinate group transfer bv hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA: CoA undergoes shikimate/quinate hydroxycinnamoyl transferase (HCT). HCT catalyzes the shikimation/guination of p-OH-coumaroyl CoA, which is hydroxylated by a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase C3'H and subsequently returned to the CoA ester by HCT.<sup>49</sup> HCT thus catalyzes a two-step reaction, yielding caffeoyl-CoA.<sup>50</sup> Additionally, feruloyl CoA production may also proceed via 4CL-mediated CoA ligation of ferulic acid. Furthermore, O-methylation catalyzed by SAM dependent caffeate 3-O-methyltransferase (COMT) or caffeoyl-CoA-O-methyltransferase (CCoAOMT) leads to feruloyl CoA formation (Figure 3).<sup>51, 54</sup>

With the production of *p*-OH-coumaroyl CoA, caffeoyl CoA and feruloyl CoA being clarified, subsequent steps toward CA follow a common pattern. The respective CoA-ester is reduced by NADPH-dependent cinnamoyl-CoA reductase (CCR).<sup>52,53</sup> Caffeoyl-CoA and feruloyl-CoA are readily reduced by CCR to generate the corresponding aldehyde intermediates: caffeyl aldehyde and coniferyl aldehyde, respectively. Caffeyl aldehyde may be converted to coniferyl aldehyde by COMT or further reduced to caffeyl alcohol by cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) and subsequently *O*-methylated by COMT to generate CA. Reduction of coniferaldehyde by CAD naturally also results in the production of CA.<sup>54</sup> Additionally, reduction of *p*-OH-coumaroyl CoA yields *p*-OH-coumaraldehyde. C3-hydroxylation of *p*-coumaraldehyde has been shown in vitro, but there currently is no evidence supporting the results *in planta*. Therefore, *p*-OH-coumaraldehyde production is likely a shunt pathway.<sup>50</sup>



Figure 3. Formation of coniferyl alcohol (CA).

#### 3. Scaffold Generation Overview

Dimerization of monolignols proceeds in a phenolic oxidative coupling reaction facilitated by an oxidase, e.g. laccase, and dirigent protein (DIR), in which the oxidase generates a phenoxy radical and DIR induces stereoand regio-selective coupling of two monolignol radical species. Coupling of two coniferyl alcohol radicals gives rise to the primary lignan precursor, pinoresinol, other products including norlignans, neolignans are derived from coupling of other resonance forms of the phenoxy radical intermediates. The coupling mode leading to pinoresinol is depicted in Figure 4. Pinoresinol (the furofuran type) may then undergo consecutive reduction by pinoresinol lariciresinol reductase (PLR) to lariciresinol (furan-type) and secoisolariciresinol (dibenzylbutane-type). Secoisolariciresinol in turn is oxidized by secoisolariciresinol dehydrogenase (SDH) to form matairesinol. This pathway has been demonstrated in various lignan-producing plant species and can be described as the general lignan pathway. At each step, some intermediate flux is diverted from the general pathway and subjected to scaffold tailoring, which ultimately is the key to complexity generation in lignan biosynthesis.



Figure 4. Formation of lignans: scaffold generation through coupling and other tailoring reactions.

#### 4. Monolignol Dimerization

The dimerization process starts with the formation of the phenoxy radical intermediate. This process is enabled by oxidase enzymes, e.g, laccases and peroxidases.<sup>55</sup> While the involvement of DIR has been studied and several isoforms have been characterized, the detailed mechanism remain to be elucidated.<sup>56</sup> Studies on DIR-mediated coupling often utilize laccase isozymes from fungi.<sup>57–59</sup> In addition, the first plant laccase, *Zm*Lac3 from *Zea mays* was characterized by Xie et al. in 2020.<sup>60</sup> In the study, the structure of *Zm*Lac3 was solved and found to exhibit three cupredoxin-like domains stabilized by disulfide bridges and harboring four Cu centers at the interface of the trimer. *Zm*Lac3 was shown to exhibit substrate preference towards sinapyl alcohol, but it was able to use coniferyl alcohol and *p*-coumaryl alcohol. Similar findings regarding substrate promiscuity and preference have been reported for laccases.<sup>61–63</sup>

Coupling of the monolignol phenoxy radical intermediates is facilitated by DIRs (Figure 5). It is in this step that stereo- and site-selectivity is imparted. DIR was first identified by in Forsythia suspensa. In the presence of (E)-coniferyl alcohol, exclusively (+)-pinoresinol-formation was observed, while racemic mixtures of pinoresinol and other coupling products were obtained when only laccase was present.<sup>56,64</sup> The first crystal structure of DIR was characterized by Gasper et al. in 2016.<sup>65</sup> AtDIR6 from Arabidopsis thaliana exhibited eight-stranded betabarrel topology forming a trimeric structure with well-defined and spatially separated substrate binding cavities, each possessing two pockets for the binding of the proposed radical intermediates. AtDIR6 was shown to exhibit enantio-complementary reactivity to FsDIR, yielding (-)-pinoresinol exclusively. In a recent study by Sattely et al. structural comparison of DIRs, PsDRR206 from Pisum sativum (for the production of (+)-pinoresinol) and AtDIR6 from Arabidopsis thaliana (for the production of (-)-pinoresinol), demonstrated previously postulated differential binding modes resulting in respective si-si or re-re coupling.58 In the same study PhDIR from Podophyllum hexandrum in conjunction with a fungal laccase TvLac from Trametes versicolor converted (E)coniferyl alcohol and synthetic CA-analogs with varied *meta*-substitution to (+)-pinoresinol and analogues. The regioselective coupling mediated by DIR not only facilitates the formation of the lignan-defining C8-C8' bond but is also the source of chirality in lignan biosynthesis. Overall, three new bonds (including one C-C and two C-O bonds) and four new stereocenters are generated in this single-step coupling -a feat unachievable by synthetic methods. While homotypic dimerization of coniferyl alcohol serves as the biosynthetic origin of the vast majority of lignan natural products, the scope of DIR-mediated coupling also includes other monolignols and likely extends to downstream intermediates of phenylpropanoid metabolism such as isoeugenol.<sup>66,67</sup> Regardless of substrate or coupling mode, the presence of para-hydroxyl moiety is a requirement of oxidase/DIR-enabled dimerization. It has been proposed that the hydroxyl group stabilizes the radical intermediate, therefore facilitating dimerization process.<sup>56,57</sup> The involvement of oxidase enzymes in radical generation and delivery, as well as the mechanism of radical capture by DIR remains poorly understood.



Figure 5. The proposed dimerization mechanism.

# 5. Reduction of Pinoresinol/Lariciresinol

Sequential reduction of the furan rings of pinoresinol to lariciresinol, then secoisolariciresinol is mediated by NADPH-dependent pinoresinol-lariciresinol-reductase (PLR) (Figure 6). Early investigations of PLR demonstrated the involvement of two isoforms of PLR, each carrying out one reduction in *Forsythia intermedia*.<sup>68</sup> Investigations of PLRs in lignan producing plant species, revealed varying degrees of substrate selectivity, with some PLRs can facilitate the reduction of both pinoresinol and lariciresinol. Therefore, the observed variations in substrate specificity of PLR likely play a role in controlling and diverting lignan flux in producing organisms.<sup>69</sup> The phenolic *para*-OH group is important for PLR activity, thus revealing a possible strategy for the reaction mechanism. The reaction is proposed to proceed via a quinone methide intermediate, ring opening, followed by a hydride provided from NADPH to restore aromaticity.<sup>70</sup> Biochemical characterization of PLR homologs using exogenously supplied racemic pinoresinol and lariciresinol has revealed that the PLR-catalyzed reduction is highly enantioselective. For example, PLR-Tp1 from *Thuja plicata* catalyzes stereoselective reduction of (+)-pinoresinol and (+)-lariciresinol, while PLR-Tp2 reduces (-)-pinoresinol and (-)-lariciresinol.<sup>70</sup> Though the observed enantiospecificity of PLR-Tp1 and PLR-Tp2 has been investigated using X-ray crystallographic analyses and site-directed mutagenesis approaches, the factors governing selectivity remain unclear.<sup>71</sup>

Additionally, the substrate specificity was investigated by Wu et al. via structural comparison of two PLR isoforms from *Camellia sinensis*.<sup>72</sup> A variable loop region consisting of 13 amino acid residues was found to be crucial to substrate recognition. Recently, Xiao et al. characterized the structures of PLR isoforms, *li*PLR1 (*Isatis indigotica*), *At*PrR1 (*Arabidopsis thaliana*) and *At*PrR2 (*Arabidopsis thaliana*), each with substrates pinoresinol and lariciresinol bound. In conjunction with biochemical assays, both substrate- and enantio-specificity were investigated. While *li*PLR1 exhibited comparable efficiency toward both pinoresinol and lariciresinol, *At*PrR1 showed significant preference for pinoresinol and *At*PrR2 exclusively converted pinoresinol.<sup>73</sup> By introducing mutations in the variable loop region, the substrate preference of *li*PLR1 and *At*PrRs could be switched. Though potential residues contributing to substrate enantiospecificity were proposed, their identity and the underlying mechanism could not be verified.<sup>72,73</sup>



Figure 6. Reactions catalyzed by pinoresinol-lariciresinol-reductases (PLRs).

# 6. Dehydrogenation of Secoisolariciresinol

The next step in the lignan biosynthetic pathway involves the conversion of dibenzylbutane-type secoisolariciresinol to dibenzyllactone-type matairesinol. Selective sequential oxidation of one of the alcohols is facilitated by NAD(P)H dependent secoisolariciresinol-dehydrogenase (SDH) (Figure 7). The resulting carboxylic acid is then subjected to intramolecular cyclization resulting in lactone formation.<sup>29</sup> Structural analysis of SDH isolated from *Podophyllum peltatum* revealed a homotetrameric structure with a highly conserved catalytic triad consisting of Ser153, Tyr167 and Lys171.<sup>74,75</sup> *In vitro* biochemical assays with SDH from *Forsythia intermedia* and *Podophyllum peltatum* indicated higher activity in the presence of NADH instead of NADPH. Furthermore, incubation with racemic secoisolariciresinol resulted in selective formation of (-)-matairesinol.<sup>75</sup>





Overall, the general lignan biosynthetic pathway utilizes sequential enzymatic transformations to generate four different lignan scaffolds: furofuran, furan, dibenzylbutane and dibenzyllactone, in which a vast majority of lignan natural products originate from either one of the four intermediates. Notably, varying degrees of enantioand substrate-specificity divert the incoming flux of pinoresinol toward the diverse composition of lignan natural product observed in respective producer organisms.

# 7. Formation of Podophyllotoxin Core

Due to the pharmacological importance of podophyllotoxin, its biosynthesis has been the subject of extensive research and responsible genes have been largely identified. Herein, the biosynthetic pathway from matairesinol to deoxypodophyllotoxin will be detailed (Figure 8). The four enzymes responsible for the conversion of (-)-pluviatolide to (-)-deoxypodophyllotoxin in Sinopodophyllum hexandrum were first identified in 2015 by Lau and Sattely.<sup>32</sup> The first transformation involves the conversion of (-)-matairesinol to (-)pluviatolide. Methylenedioxy (MDO) bridge formation in plants is associated with the cytochrome P450 monooxygenase family (CYP). CYPs compose a large and diverse enzyme superfamily, with members playing essential roles in plant secondary metabolism. For example, CYP719A1 from Coptis japonica catalzyed MDO formation in isoquinoline alkaloid biosynthesis.<sup>76,77</sup> Leveraging massively parallel sequencing of Sinopodophyllum hexandrum and Podophyllum peltatum transcriptomes, Marguez et al. identified two P450s involved in podophyllotoxin biosynthesis, *Sh*CYP719A23 and *Pp*CYP719A24.<sup>78</sup> In addition, other enzymes, e.g., non-heme iron oxygenases, have also been implicated in MDO bridge formation.<sup>79</sup> In the next step, (-)pluviatolide is converted to (-)-bursehernin via O-methylation at C4'. It is followed by C5'-hydroxylation to yield (-)-5'-desmethyl-yatein and methylation to yield (-)-yatein.<sup>80</sup> The stereo-and regioselective C(sp<sup>2</sup>)-C(sp<sup>3</sup>) bond formation between the benzylic C7' and aryl C6 yields (-)-deoxypodophyllotoxin and completes the tetracyclic core of the aryltetralin class.





Iron and 2-oxoglutarate (Fe/2OG) dependent *Sh*2-ODD/*Sh*DPS from *Sinopodophyllum hexandrum* facilitates stereo- and regioselective C(sp<sup>2</sup>)-C(sp<sup>3</sup>) bond formation.<sup>32</sup>. The mechanism of this transformation was elucidated in 2022 by Tang et al. using substrate-bound protein structures, biochemical assays with substrate analogs and chemical model studies.<sup>81</sup> Briefly, the reaction is proposed to proceed via elimination of a hydrogen atom to generate a substrate radical. Following a carbocation at C7', C-C bond formation is likely induced by rotation of the benzodioxole moiety, positioning its C6 in close proximity to the C7'-centered carbocation (Figure 9). Furthermore, DPS was shown to convert both (+)- and (-)-yatein. Interestingly, the stereochemical conformation of the substrate does not impact the stereo-specificity of C-C bond formation.<sup>81</sup>



Figure 9. Proposed mechanism of an Fe/2OG enzyme catalyzed C-C bond formation.

# 8. Scaffold Tailoring in Podophyllotoxin and Derivatives

Following completion of the aryltetralin scaffold, the oxidative scaffold-diversification strategy resumes (Figure 10). The enzymes responsible for the conversion of (-)-deoxypodophyllotoxin to (-)-4'-desmethyl-epipodophyllotoxin, the aglycone of etoposide, were also identified in 2015.<sup>32</sup> CYP71BE54 was found to facilitate *O*-demethylation of (-)-deoxypodophyllotoxin at C4', yielding (-)-4'-desmethyl-deoxypodophyllotoxin. The production of the epimer of podophyllotoxin, epipodophyllotoxin, was found to be mediated by a cytochrome P450. *Sh*CYP82D61 in which it hydroxylates both deoxypodophyllotoxin and (-)-4'-desmethyl-deoxypodophyllotoxin, producing (-)-epipodophyllotoxin and (-)-4'-desmethylepipodophyllotoxin respectively. Interestingly, deoxypodophyllotoxin could also be converted to epipodophyllotoxin by human CYP3A4.<sup>82</sup> However, enzymes responsible for (-)-podophyllotoxin formation was not observed.



Figure 10. Tailoring enzymes in the formation of podophyllotoxin and derivatives.

# 9. Scaffold Tailoring in Sesamin Biosynthesis

A majority of furofuran lignans are derived from pinoresinol, as well as pinoresinol analogs stemming from related monolignol dimerization.<sup>22,39,83</sup> Among furofuran lignans, sesamin is one of the most well-known and commercially relevant. It is mainly produced by *Sesamum sp.*, e.g., *Sesamum indicum*.<sup>23,84</sup> Sesamin is produced from pinoresinol through formation of two methylenedioxy bridges (Figure 11). The pathway from pinoresinol to sesamin was first proposed in 1998 by Lewis et al.<sup>84</sup> In the study, a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase was shown to convert pinoresinol to piperitol. Further conversion to sesamin was not observed, hence the enzyme was termed piperitol synthase (PS) and the presence of a second enzyme, sesamin synthase (SS) was postulated.<sup>84</sup> Ono et al. later reported the identification and characterization of three *Si*P450 proteins, encoded by genes CYP81Q1 from *Sesamum indicum*, CYP81Q2 from *Sesamum radiatum* and CYP81Q3 from *Sesamum alatum*. Both recombinant proteins of CYP81Q1 and CYP81Q2 were shown to possess dual (+)-piperitol/(+)-sesamin forming activity, thus implicating them as (+)-piperitol/(+)-sesamin synthases (PSS).<sup>85</sup> Likely, (+)-piperitol is released from the enzyme active site after the first catalysis and is subsequently recaptured for the second catalysis (Figure 11). However, the mechanism of dual catalysis remains to be fully elucidated. On the other hand, CYP81Q3 showed no activity, coinciding with the absence of (+)-sesamin in *S. alatum*.



#### **10. Glycosylation**

Glycosylation represents one of the most common group transfer reactions in natural product biosynthesis to diversify natural product structures and introduction of a sugar moiety improves solubility and reactivity of the corresponding aglycone.<sup>29,86,87</sup> In plants, glycosylation is typically facilitated by uridine diphosphate (UDP)-dependent glycosyltransferases (UGTs). In lignan biosynthesis, glycosylation is also commonly used. *At*UGT71C1 from *Arabidopsis thaliana* was shown to perform monoglycosylation on both (+)-lariciresinol and (+)-pinoresinol with comparable efficiency. On the other hand, *li*UGT71B5 from *Isatis indigotica* facilitates mono- and di-glycosylation on pinoresinol only (Figure 12). Additionally, *Lu*UGT74S1 from *Linum usitatissimum* could utilize (-)-secoisolariciresinol as a substrate to catalyze mono- and di-glycosylation.<sup>88</sup>





Another prominent example of a lignan-glucoside is found in etoposide. The disaccharide moiety in etoposide is important to its topoisomerase II inhibition activity.<sup>89,90</sup> Glycosylation of the etoposide aglycone, (-)-4'-desmethylepipodophyllotoxin, has been achieved by leveraging the substrate promiscuity of non-native UGTs (Figure 10).<sup>91</sup>

# 11. Outlook for other Lignan Scaffolds

#### 11.1. Arylnaphthalene Lignans

Arylnaphthalene lignans are produced by plant species of various genera, including *Haplophyllum, Justicia, Larrea* and *Phyllantus*. Much like other lignan-subtypes, arylnaphthalene lignans have been shown to exhibit a wide range of bioactivities.<sup>92–94</sup> Justicidins and diphyllin are prominent examples of the subtype and have been

investigated as putative remedies for topical inflammatory diseases such as psoriasis. Structurally, the arylnaphthalene scaffold is defined by a biaryl bond connecting naphthalene and phenyl moieties. Consequently, arylnaphthalene lignans lack the chiral centers characteristic of other lignan subclasses. Instead, the rotatory hindrance of the sp<sup>2</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> biaryl bond induces axial chirality and consequently the ability of forming atropisomers. Atropisomerism is rarely observed in nature, thus they have garnered considerable research interest in recent years.<sup>95,96</sup> To date, the biosynthetic formation of the arylnaphthalene-type lignan scaffold remains a mystery. From a biosynthetic viewpoint, it appears likely that arylnaphthalene lignans are derived from sequential dehydration of corresponding aryltetralin precursor.

In 2007, Hemmati et al. reported the presence of a PLR (PLR-Lp1) in aryInaphtalene-lignan producing *Linum perenne H*.<sup>97</sup> Leveraging an RNAi approach indicated PLR-Lp1 to be involved in aryInaphtalene lignan biosynthesis. Likely, aryInaphtalene lignan biogenesis follows the "general" lignan pathway to produce dibenzylbutyrolactone-type matairesinol as the key precursor.<sup>92,95</sup> Plausible intermediates toward justicidins and diphyllin have been isolated from *L. perenne*, including 7(8),7'(8')-tetrahydrojusticidin and dihydrojusticidin. This implies a biosynthetic strategy analogous to aryItetralin-lignan biosynthesis, supporting the hypothesis of tandem dehydration to yield the aryInaphthalene scaffold (Figure 13).<sup>95,97</sup>





#### 11.2. Dibenzylcyclooctadiene Lignans

A large number of dibenzylcyclooctadiene-type lignans have been isolated and characterized. The structural features and promising bioactivities of representative compounds have elicited significant research interest.<sup>17,20,98,99</sup> However, like arylnaphthalene lignans, the genes associated with the biosynthetic transformations leading to their formation remain unknown. However, several possible pathway intermediates have been proposed to provide some insight into early steps of Dibenzylcyclooctadiene Lignans (DBO) biosynthesis.<sup>39,100</sup>

Interestingly, all known and characterized DBO-lignans have been isolated from the *Schisandraceae* family.<sup>18,19,68,101</sup> The lack of genomic sequencing data of *Schizandera sp.* has made the identification of enzymes involved in their biosynthesis elusive. Recent advances in verrucosin biosynthesis in *Schizandera sp.*, have implicated it to be an on-pathway intermediate toward DBO-type lignans. In contrast to using coniferyl alcohol

as the precursor, verrucosin is likely resulting from dimerization of (*E*)-isoeugenol. Isotope labeling studies by Lopes et al. observed verrucosin formation in *Virola surinamensis* using labeled (*E*)-isoeugenol.<sup>66</sup> Furthermore, Dexter et al. identified an acyltransferase (*Ph*CFAT) in petunias responsible for the acetylation of coniferyl alcohol to yield coniferyl acetate.<sup>67</sup> A novel NADPH-dependent isoeugenol synthase (*Ph*IGS1) was shown to convert only coniferyl acetate, but not coniferyl alcohol, to (*E*)-isoeugenol. More recently, Dong et al. identified DIR and *Sc*CFAT genes in *S. chinensis*.<sup>100,102</sup> Taken together, a possible pathway for verrucosin formation was proposed (Figure 14). (*E*)-Isoeugenol is speculated to undergo dimerization to verrucosin facilitated by an auxiliary oxidase and *Sh*DIR, which in turn could be converted to dihydroguiaretic acid via a PLR-like reductase. Subsequently, cytochrome P450s and *O*-methyltransferases may then form pregomisin.<sup>103</sup>



Figure 14. Possible biosynthetic pathway for dibenzylcyclooctadiene lignans.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a National Science Foundation Grant CHE-1845913, Goodnight Early Career Innovator and LORD Corporation Distinguished Scholar at North Carolina State University.

# References

- 1. Umezawa, T. Wood Res. Bull. Wood Res. Inst. Kyoto Univ. 2003, 90, 27–110.
- 2. Moss, G. P. *Pure. Appl. Chem.* **2000**, *72*, 1493–1523. https://doi.org/doi:10.1351/pac200072081493
- 3. Hirano, T.; Gotoh, M.; Oka, K. *Life Sci.* **1994**, *55*, 1061–1069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(94)00641-5</u>
- 4. Yamauchi, S.; Ina, T.; Kirikihira, T.; Masuda, T. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **2004**, *68*, 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.68.183
- 5. Saleem, M.; Kim, H. J.; Ali, M. S.; Lee, Y. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2005, 22, 696.

https://doi.org/10.1039/b514045p.

- 6. Hano, C. F.; Dinkova-Kostova, A. T.; Davin, L. B.; Cort, J. R.; Lewis, N. G. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2021**, *11*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.630327</u>
- 7. Pan, J.-Y.; Chen, S.-L.; Yang, M.-H.; Wu, J.; Sinkkonen, J.; Zou, K. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2009**, *26*, 1251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/b910940d.</u>
- 8. Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M.; Snader, K. M. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2003**, *66*, 1022–1037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/np0300961</u>.
- 9. Zakon, S. J. *Arch. Derm. Syphilol.* **1952**, *65*, 620–622. https://doi.org/10.1001/archderm.1952.01530240112022.
- 10. Shen, S.; Tong, Y.; Luo, Y.; Huang, L.; Gao, W. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2022**, *39*, 1856–1875. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D2NP00028H.</u>
- 11. Utsugi, T.; Shibata, J.; Sugimoto, Y.; Aoyagi, K.; Wierzba, K.; Kobunai, T.; Terada, T.; Oh-hara, T.; Tsuruo, T.; Yamada, Y. *Cancer Res.* **1996**, *56*, 2809–2814.
- 12. Yildiz, H.; Van Den Neste, E.; P. Defour, J.; Danse, E.; Yombi, J. *QJM An Int. J. Med.* **2022**, *115*, 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcaa011
- 13. Hande, K. *Eur. J. Cancer* **1998**, *34*, 1514–1521. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-8049(98)00228-7.
- Hernández-Damián, J.; Andérica-Romero, A. C.; Pedraza-Chaverri, J. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim). 2014, 347, 685–697. https://doi.org/10.1002/ardp.201400159.
- 15. Merino-Ramos, T.; Jiménez de Oya, N.; Saiz, J.-C.; Martín-Acebes, M. A. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 2017, 61 (8).

https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00376-17.

16. Soto-Acosta, R.; Bautista-Carbajal, P.; Syed, G. H.; Siddiqui, A.; Del Angel, R. M. Antiviral Res. 2014, 109, 132–140.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2014.07.002.

- 17. Chang, J.; Wang, Q.; Li, Y. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* **2009**, *9*, 1660–1675. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/156802609789941933.</u>
- Tai, B. H.; Yen, P. H.; Hoang, N. H.; Thanh Huong, P. T.; Dung, N. V.; Van Thanh, B.; Cuong, N. T.; Bang, N. A.; Nhiem, N. X.; Van Kiem, P. *RSC Adv.* 2022, *12*, 25433–25439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/d2ra05052h.</u>
- 19. Ren, R.; Ci, X.-X.; Li, H.-Z.; Luo, G.-J.; Li, R.-T.; Deng, X.-M. *Zeitschrift für Naturforsch. B* **2010**, *65*, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/znb-2010-0201.</u>
- 20. Liu, G. *Med. Chem. (Los. Angeles).* **2009**, *5*, 29–43. https://doi.org/10.2174/157340609787049316.
- 21. Michailidis, D.; Angelis, A.; Aligiannis, N.; Mitakou, S.; Skaltsounis, L. *Front. Pharmacol.* **2019**, *10*, 723. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHAR.2019.00723/BIBTEX.
- Dossa, K.; Diouf, D.; Wang, L.; Wei, X.; Zhang, Y.; Niang, M.; Fonceka, D.; Yu, J.; Mmadi, M. A.; Yehouessi, L. W.; Liao, B.; Zhang, X.; Cisse, N. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 1154. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2017.01154/BIBTEX.
- 23. Dar, A. A.; Arumugam, N. *Bioorg. Chem.* **2013**, *50*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2013.06.009</u>.
- 24. Osmakov, D. I.; Kalinovskii, A. P.; Belozerova, O. A.; Andreev, Y. A.; Kozlov, S. A. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2022**, *23*, 6031.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23116031.

- 25. Plaha, N. S.; Awasthi, S.; Sharma, A.; Kaushik, N. *3 Biotech* **2022**, *12*, 255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-022-03318-9</u>.
- Wang, L. X.; Wang, H. L.; Huang, J.; Chu, T. Z.; Peng, C.; Zhang, H.; Chen, H. L.; Xiong, Y. A.; Tan, Y. Z. *Phytochemistry* 2022, 202, 113326 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2022.113326
- 27. Satake, H.; Koyama, T.; Bahabadi, S.; Matsumoto, E.; Ono, E.; Murata, J. *Metabolites* **2015**, *5*, 270–290. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo5020270</u>.
- 28. Satake, H.; Ono, E.; Murata, J. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2013**, *61*, 11721–11729. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf4007104.
- 29. Walsh, C. T.; Tang, Y. *Natural Product Biosynthesis: Chemical Logic and Enzymatic Machinery*; The Royal Society of Chemistry Ed., London 2017.
- 30. Chaurasia, O. P.; Ballabh, B.; Tayade, A.; Kumar, R.; Kumar, G. P.; Singh, S. B. Indian J. Tradit. Knowl. **2012**, *11*, 234-241.
- 31. Guerram, M.; Jiang, Z.-Z.; Zhang, L.-Y. *Chin. J. Nat. Med.* **2012**, *10*, 161–169. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1009.2012.00161.
- 32. Lau, W.; Sattely, E. S. *Science* **2015**, *349*, 1224–1228. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac7202.
- 33. Liang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, X.; Li, J.; Zhang, X.; Zhao, C. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* **2015**, *54*, 175–178. https://doi.org/10.1093/chromsci/bmv124.
- 34. Xiang, J.-C.; Fung, C.; Wang, Q.; Zhu, J. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 3481. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31000-4.
- 35. Li, J.; Zhang, X.; Renata, H. *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 11657–11660. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201904102.
- 36. Decembrino, D.; Raffaele, A.; Knöfel, R.; Girhard, M.; Urlacher, V. B. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **2021**, *20*, 183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-021-01673-5</u>.
- 37. Liu, Q.; Yu, T.; Li, X.; Chen, Y.; Campbell, K.; Nielsen, J.; Chen, Y. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 4976. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12961-5</u>.
- 38. Andargie, M.; Vinas, M.; Rathgeb, A.; Möller, E.; Karlovsky, P. *Molecules* **2021**, *26*, 883. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26040883</u>.
- 39. Suzuki, S.; Umezawa, T. *J. Wood Sci.* **2007**, *53*, 273–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10086-007-0892-x.
- 40. Dixon, R. A.; Achnine, L.; Kota, P.; Liu, C.-J.; Reddy, M. S. S.; Wang, L. *Mol. Plant Pathol.* **2002**, *3*, 371–390. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1364-3703.2002.00131.x.
- 41. Nishiyama, Y.; Yun, C.-S.; Matsuda, F.; Sasaki, T.; Saito, K.; Tozawa, Y. *Planta* **2010**, *232*, 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-010-1166-1.
- 42. Fan, S.-P.; Chen, W.; Wei, J.-C.; Gao, X.-X.; Yang, Y.-C.; Wang, A.-H.; Hu, G.-S.; Jia, J.-M. *Chin. J. Nat. Med.*2022, 20, 527–536.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S1875-5364(22)60173-0.

- 43. Vogt, T. *Mol. Plant* **2010**, *3*, 2–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssp106.
- 44. Davin, L. B.; Jourdes, M.; Patten, A. M.; Kim, K.-W.; Vassão, D. G.; Lewis, N. G. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2008, 25, 1015. https://doi.org/10.1039/b510386j.

Page 18 of 23

- 45. Zhou, G.-L.; Zhu, P. *BMC Plant Biol.* **2020**, *20*, 414. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-02586-y.
- Costa, M. A.; Bedgar, D. L.; Moinuddin, S. G. A.; Kim, K.-W.; Cardenas, C. L.; Cochrane, F. C.; Shockey, J. M.; Helms, G. L.; Amakura, Y.; Takahashi, H.; Milhollan, J. K.; Davin, L. B.; Browse, J.; Lewis, N. G. *Phytochemistry* 2005, *66*, 2072–2091. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2005.06.022.
- Tan, Y.; Yang, J.; Jiang, Y.; Wang, J.; Liu, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Jin, B.; Wang, X.; Chen, T.; Kang, L.; Guo, J.; Cui, G.; Tang, J.; Huang, L. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2022, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.921815.
- 48. Lavhale, S. G.; Kalunke, R. M.; Giri, A. P. *Planta* **2018**, *248*, 1063–1078. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-018-2965-z.</u>
- Mahesh, V.; Million-Rousseau, R.; Ullmann, P.; Chabrillange, N.; Bustamante, J.; Mondolot, L.; Morant, M.; Noirot, M.; Hamon, S.; de Kochko, A.; Werck-Reichhart, D.; Campa, C. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 2007, 64, 145–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-007-9141-3.</u>
- Padmakshan, D.; Timokhin, V. I.; Lu, F.; Schatz, P. F.; Vanholme, R.; Boerjan, W.; Ralph, J. *Holzforschung* 2022, 76, 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1515/hf-2021-0149.
- 51. Liu, X.; Zhao, C.; Gong, Q.; Wang, Y.; Cao, J.; Li, X.; Grierson, D.; Sun, C. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2020**, *71*, 3066–3079. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/eraa083.
- Zhou, R.; Jackson, L.; Shadle, G.; Nakashima, J.; Temple, S.; Chen, F.; Dixon, R. A. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2010, 107, 17803–17808. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1012900107.
- Pan, H.; Zhou, R.; Louie, G. V.; Mühlemann, J. K.; Bomati, E. K.; Bowman, M. E.; Dudareva, N.; Dixon, R. A.; Noel, J. P.; Wang, X. *Plant Cell* **2014**, *26*, 3709–3727. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.114.127399.
- Bhattacharyya, D.; Hazra, S.; Banerjee, A.; Datta, R.; Kumar, D.; Chakrabarti, S.; Chattopadhyay, S. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 2016, *92*, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-016-0492-5.
- 55. Zoclanclounon, Y. A. B.; Rostás, M.; Chung, N.-J.; Mo, Y.; Karlovsky, P.; Dossa, K. *Life* **2022**, *12*, 1200. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/life12081200.</u>
- Davin, L. B.; Wang, H.-B.; Crowell, A. L.; Bedgar, D. L.; Martin, D. M.; Sarkanen, S.; Lewis, N. G. Science 1997, 275, 362–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5298.362.</u>
- Pickel, B.; Constantin, M.-A.; Pfannstiel, J.; Conrad, J.; Beifuss, U.; Schaller, A. *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.* 2010, 49, 202–204. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200904622
- 58. Kim, S. S.; Sattely, E. S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143*, 5011–5021. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.0c13164.
- 59. Mydy, L. S.; Chigumba, D. N.; Kersten, R. D. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2021**, *12* (692108), 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.692108</u>.
- 60. Xie, T.; Liu, Z.; Wang, G. *Nat. Plants* **2020**, *6*, 231–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-020-0595-5.
- 61. Decembrino, D.; Girhard, M.; Urlacher, V. B. *ChemBioChem* **2021**, *22*, 1470–1479. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.202000775.

- 62. Pickel, B.; Schaller, A. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2013**, *97*, 8427–8438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-5167-4</u>.
- 63. Lv, Y.; Cheng, X.; Du, G.; Zhou, J.; Chen, J. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **2017**, *114*, 2066–2074. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26319</u>.
- 64. Halls, S. C.; Lewis, N. G. *Biochemistry* **2002**, *41*, 9455–9461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0259709</u>.
- Gasper, R.; Effenberger, I.; Kolesinski, P.; Terlecka, B.; Hofmann, E.; Schaller, A. *Plant Physiol.* 2016, 172, 2165–2175. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.01281.
- 66. Lopes, N. P.; Yoshida, M.; Kato, M. J. *Rev. Bras. Ciências Farm.* **2004**, *40*, 53–57. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-93322004000100009.
- Dexter, R.; Qualley, A.; Kish, C. M.; Ma, C. J.; Koeduka, T.; Nagegowda, D. A.; Dudareva, N.; Pichersky, E.; Clark, D. *Plant J.* 2007, 49, 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02954.x.
- 68. Chu, A.; Dinkova, A.; Davin, L. B.; Bedgar, D. L.; Lewis, N. G. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1993**, *268*, 27026–27033. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)74213-6.
- Xiao, Y.; Ji, Q.; Gao, S.; Tan, H.; Chen, R.; Li, Q.; Chen, J.; Yang, Y.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Chen, W.; Hu, Z. J. *Exp. Bot.* 2015, 66, 6259–6271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv333.</u>
- 70. Fujita, M.; Gang, D. R.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. J. Biol. Chem. **1999**, 274, 618–627. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.2.618.
- von Heimendahl, C. B. I.; Schäfer, K. M.; Eklund, P.; Sjöholm, R.; Schmidt, T. J.; Fuss, E. *Phytochemistry* 2005, *66*, 1254–1263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2005.04.026.
- 72. Wu, Y.; Xing, D.; Ma, G.; Dai, X.; Gao, L.; Xia, T. *Phytochemistry* **2019**, *162*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2019.02.003.
- 73. Xiao, Y.; Shao, K.; Zhou, J.; Wang, L.; Ma, X.; Wu, D.; Yang, Y.; Chen, J.; Feng, J.; Qiu, S.; Lv, Z.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, P.; Chen, W. Nat. Commun. 2021, 12, 2828. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-23095-y.</u>
- 74. Xia, Z.-Q.; Costa, M. A.; Pélissier, H. C.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, *276*, 12614–12623. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M008622200.
- 75. Moinuddin, S. G. A.; Youn, B.; Bedgar, D. L.; Costa, M. A.; Helms, G. L.; Kang, C.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2006, 4, 808–816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/b516563f.</u>
- 76. Gesell, A.; Rolf, M.; Ziegler, J.; Díaz Chávez, M. L.; Huang, F.-C.; Kutchan, T. M. J. Biol. Chem. 2009, 284, 24432–24442. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.033373.
- 77. Liu, X.; Jiao, X.; Cheng, Y.; Ma, Y.; Bu, J.; Jin, B.; Li, Q.; Hu, Z.; Tang, J.; Lai, C.; Wang, J.; Cui, G.; Chen, Y.; Guo, J.; Huang, L. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 2023, *22*, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-023-02024-2.
- Marques, J. V; Kim, K.-W.; Lee, C.; Costa, M. A.; May, G. D.; Crow, J. A.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. J. Biol. Chem. 2013, 288, 466–479. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.400689.
- 79. Liu, X.; Yuan, Z.; Su, H.; Hou, X.; Deng, Z.; Xu, H.; Guo, B.; Yin, D.; Sheng, X.; Rao, Y. ACS Catal. 2022, 12,

3689–3699.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.1c04627.

- 80. Sakakibara, N.; Suzuki, S.; Umezawa, T.; Shimada, M. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2003**, *1*, 2474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/b304411d.</u>
- Tang, H.; Wu, M.-H.; Lin, H.-Y.; Han, M.-R.; Tu, Y.-H.; Yang, Z.-J.; Chien, T.-C.; Chan, N.-L.; Chang, W. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2022, 119, e2113770119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2113770119.</u>
- Julsing, M. K.; Vasilev, N. P.; Schneidman-Duhovny, D.; Muntendam, R.; Woerdenbag, H. J.; Quax, W. J.; Wolfson, H. J.; Ionkova, I.; Kayser, O. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2008**, *43*, 1171–1179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2007.09.005</u>.
- 83. Jiao, Y.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. *Phytochemistry* **1998**, *49*, 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(98)00268-4.
- 84. Kato, M. J.; Chu, A.; Davin, L. B.; Lewis, N. G. *Phytochemistry* **1998**, *47*, 583–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(97)00727-9.</u>
- Ono, E.; Nakai, M.; Fukui, Y.; Tomimori, N.; Fukuchi-Mizutani, M.; Saito, M.; Satake, H.; Tanaka, T.; Katsuta, M.; Umezawa, T.; Tanaka, Y. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2006, *103*, 10116–10121. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603865103">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603865103</a>.
- Sun, Y.; Chen, H.; Wang, J.; Gao, M.; Zhao, C.; Han, R.; Chen, H.; Li, M.; Xue, G.; Feng, W. *Molecules* 2019, 24, 3196. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24173196.
- 87. Louveau, T.; Osbourn, A. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **2019**, *11*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a034744.
- Ghose, K.; Selvaraj, K.; McCallum, J.; Kirby, C. W.; Sweeney-Nixon, M.; Cloutier, S. J.; Deyholos, M.; Datla, R.; Fofana, B. *BMC Plant Biol.* **2014**, *14*, 82. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-14-82.
- Gentry, A. C.; Pitts, S. L.; Jablonsky, M. J.; Bailly, C.; Graves, D. E.; Osheroff, N. *Biochemistry* 2011, *50*, 3240–3249.

https://doi.org/10.1021/bi200094z.

- 90. Horwitz, S. B.; Loike, J. D. *Lloydia* **1977**, *40*, 82–89.
- 91. Jia, K.-Z.; Zhu, L.-W.; Qu, X.; Li, S.; Shen, Y.; Qi, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Li, Y.-Z.; Tang, Y.-J. ACS Synth. Biol. **2019**, *8*, 2718–2725.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.9b00318.

- 92. Hemmati, S.; Seradj, H. *Molecules* **2016**, *21*, 820. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21070820.
- 93. Wu, S.-J.; Wu, T.-S. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2006**, *54*, 1223–1225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.54.1223.</u>
- 94. Park, S.; Kim, S.; Shin, D. *Phytochem. Rev.* **2021**, *20*, 1033–1054. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-020-09735-z.
- Zhao, Y.; Yi Tsang, N.; Xu, X.-Y.; Zhao, C.-L.; Ku, C.-F.; Li, W.-F.; Zhu, Y.; Liu, K.-L.; Rong, L.; Zhang, H.-J. Asian J. Org. Chem. 2022, 11, e202200267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajoc.202200267.</u>
- 96. Park, S.; Kim, J.-H.; Kim, S.-H.; Shin, D. *Front. Chem.* **2020**, *8*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00628.
- 97. Hemmati, S.; Schneider, B.; Schmidt, T. J.; Federolf, K.; Alfermann, A. W.; Fuss, E. Phytochemistry 2007,

68, 2736–2743.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2007.10.025.

- 98. Chang, J.; Reiner, J.; Xie, J. *Chem. Rev.* **2005**, *105*, 4581–4609. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr050531b.
- 99. Cui, Q.; Du, R.; Liu, M.; Rong, L. *Molecules* **2020**, *25*, 183. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25010183
- 100. Qiang, T.-Y.; Liu, J.-S.; Dong, Y.-Q.; Mu, X.-L.; Chen, Y.; Luo, H.-M.; Zhang, B.-G.; Liu, H.-T. Front. Plant Sci.
  2022, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.881342.
- 101. Shehla, N.; Li, B.; Zhao, J.; Cao, L.; Jian, Y.; Khan, I. A.; Liao, D.; Rahman, A.; Choudhary, M. I.; Wang, W. Nat. Prod. Res. 2022, 36, 8–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2020.1758378.</u>
- 102. Dong, Y. Q.; Qiang, T. Y.; Liu, J. S.; Li, B.; Wei, X. P.; Qi, Y. D.; Liu, H. T.; Zhang, B. G. *Zhongguo Zhongyao Zazhi* 2021, 46, 5270–5277. https://doi.org/10.19540/j.cnki.cjcmm.20210723.101.
- 103. Nett, R. S.; Lau, W.; Sattely, E. S. *Nature* **2020**, *584* (7819), 148–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2546-8</u>.

# Authors' Biographies



**Nicholas König Canty** was born in 1997 in New York City. He received his B.S. degree in Chemistry and Biochemistry from Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich in 2020. In 2021, he joined the research group of Prof. Wei-chen Chang at North Carolina State University, where his current research interests focus on uncovering enzymatic mechanisms and studying their use for the synthesis of natural products.

#### Arkivoc 2023 (ii) 202312006



**Wei-chen Chang** obtained his BS under Professor Tien-Yau Luh at National Taiwan University. He received his Ph.D. under Professor Hung-wen Liu at UT Austin in 2011. During 2011-2015, he worked with Professors J. Martin Bollinger and Carsten Krebs as postdoc fellow. In 2016, Dr. Chang started his independent career at North Carolina State University. His research focuses on mechanistic investigation of novel biological transformations found in natural product biosynthetic pathways.

This paper is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>)